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Susan Galavan, “Transoceanic Networks of Exchange: New Brunswick Lumber, Merchant 
Trade, and the Building of Victorian Britain,” Acadiensis 48, no. 2 (Autumn/automne 2019): 
90-116.

Transoceanic Networks of Exchange:
New Brunswick Lumber, Merchant Trade,  
and the Building of Victorian Britain

SUSAN GALAVAN

Le présent article traite des liens entre le commerce du bois au Nouveau-Brunswick 
et la construction de villes victoriennes dans les îles Britanniques, en examinant le cas 
des frères Carvill – trois marchands irlandais engagés dans le commerce du bois et du 
fer et le commerce maritime des deux côtés de l’Atlantique. Il étudie les relations entre 
ces diverses activités dans le contexte général d’une ère industrielle. Tout en offrant un 
aperçu des affaires d’une famille marchande, l’article analyse également les incidences 
du commerce du bois du Nouveau-Brunswick sur la culture matérielle de la Grande-
Bretagne industrielle alors en pleine croissance, en particulier durant la première moitié 
du 19e siècle.

This article examines the links between the timber trade in New Brunswick and Victorian 
city building in the British Isles through the lens of the Carvills – three Irish merchant 
brothers who were engaged in the timber, iron, and shipping trades on both sides of 
the Atlantic. It considers the interrelationships between these various endeavours within 
the broader context of an industrial age. While offering insight into one merchant family 
business, this article also discusses the impact of the New Brunswick lumber trade on the 
material culture of a growing industrial Britain – particularly during the first half of the 
19th century.

OVER THE PAST TWO-TO-THREE DECADES, HISTORIANS have 
increasingly moved beyond conventional provincial or national models of 
inquiry to embrace broader transnational, oceanic, and global perspectives. 
The field of Atlantic history emerged from this expansive approach, revealing 
the rich networks of people, goods, and ideas that were exchanged across 
the Atlantic oceanic rim.1 These transnational approaches have impacted 

1	 Examples of this enormous literature include Alan L. Karras and J.R. McNeill, eds., Atlantic 
American Societies: From Columbus Through Abolution 1492-1888 (London: Routledge, 1992); 
Peggy K. Liss, Atlantic Empires: The Network of Trade and Revolution, 1713-1826 (Baltimore 
and London: John Hopkins University Press, 1983); Bernard Bailyn, Atlantic History: Concept 
and Contours (Cambridge: Harvard University Press, 2005); Thomas Benjamin, The Atlantic 
World: Europeans, Africans, Indians and Their Shared History, 1400-1900 (New York: Cambridge 
University Press, 2009); Douglas R. Egerton, Alison Games, Jane G. Landers, Kris Lane Donald 
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our understanding of British America by expanding our knowledge of the 
enormous economic, demographic, social, and cultural ties that connected the 
British Isles to its North American colonies, especially during the early modern 
period.2 Dominant themes include the roles played by migration patterns, 
trade, religion, ethnicity, and class in linking the lands bordering the North 
Atlantic as well as the political and economic contexts that underpinned those 
relationships. Our knowledge of northeastern North America, specifically the 
territory that eventually became Atlantic Canada, has also been enhanced by 
these broader frameworks. Although the site of economic deprivation during 
the 20th century, much of this region had previously been an “oceanically 
oriented marine empire” linked to the wider world through trade and 
dependent on international markets for industry, identity, and growth.3

Despite the substantial inf luence of the Atlanticist perspective, this 
methodology is neither new nor radical, as some Canadian scholars had been 
working in an Atlantic context long before it became fashionable among early 
Americanists.4 For the Maritime Provinces, situated at the most northeastern 
extremity of the Americas, geographic location has been a key factor in 
fostering transatlantic connections, particularly with Europe. The region was 
dependent on trade with overseas markets, especially the fishing, lumbering, 
and shipbuilding industries.5 In Newfoundland, the cod fishery was vital 

R. Wright, eds., The Atlantic World: A History, 1400-1888 (Illinois: Harlan Davidson, 2007); 
and Anna Suranyi, The Atlantic Connection: A History of the Atlantic World, 1450-1900 (New 
York: Routledge, 2015). This article was drawn from a research stay at the University of New 
Brunswick in Fredericton and Carleton University in Ottawa, which was funded by a Dobbin 
scholarship from the Ireland Canada University Foundation and for which I am very grateful. I 
am indebted to the exemplary staff at the Provincial Archives of New Brunswick in Fredericton 
for their research assistance, in particular Mary-Ellen Badeau, Janice Cook, and Robbie Gilmore. 
Special thanks also to Dr. Elizabeth Mancke, University of New Brunswick, and Dr. Peter 
Coffman, Carleton University, for academic and institutional support.

2	 See, for example, David Armitage and Michael J. Braddick, eds., The British Atlantic World 
1500-1800 (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2002); Stephen J. Hornsby, British Atlantic, American 
Frontier (Hanover, NH: University Press of New England, 2005); Elizabeth Mancke and Carole 
Shammas, eds., The Creation of the British Atlantic World (Baltimore: Johns Hopkins University 
Press, 2005); and H.V. Bowen, Elizabeth Mancke, and John G. Reid, eds., Britain’s Oceanic 
Empire: Atlantic and Indian Ocean Worlds, c. 1550-1850 (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 
2012).

3	 Jerry Bannister, “Atlantic Canada in an Atlantic World? Northeastern North America in the Long 
18th Century,” Acadiensis 43, no. 2 (Summer/Autumn 2014): 9.

4	 See, for example, Donald Creighton, Dominion of the North: A History of Canada (Toronto: 
Macmillan, 1966) and W.S. MacNutt, The Atlantic Provinces: The Emergence of a Colonial Society, 
1712-1857 (Toronto: McClelland & Stewart, 1965). 

5	 Lewis R. Fischer and Eric W. Sager, The Enterprising Canadians: Entrepreneurs and Economic 
Development in Eastern Canada, 1820-1914 (St. John’s: Memorial University of Newfoundland, 
1979).
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to European traders from the early 16th century.6 Scholars have traced the 
island’s links to the Mediterranean world and beyond, revealing a myriad of 
connections that impacted migration, trade, and commerce on both sides of the 
Atlantic.7 In both New Brunswick and Nova Scotia, timber was an important 
export staple – most notably after 1815 when New Brunswick dominated this 
share of the market as a major supplier of timber and ships to Britain and the 
West Indies.8 Neighbouring Prince Edward Island also played its part, and 
increased shipbuilding and timber exports brought unprecedented economic 
growth during the same period.9 In these varied ways the Atlantic Provinces 
supplied important staples to overseas markets, but they also received large 
numbers of people through the passenger trades.10

Immigration into the region increased throughout the 19th century, in 
particular to Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, and this is ref lected in the 
population today, the majority of whom are of Anglo and Celtic descent. As 
in many territories across the British Atlantic it was mostly young, single 
males who sought opportunities there, the majority of whom made a conscious 
decision to emigrate in order to better their economic circumstances.11 The 
Irish were just one of many ethnic groups arriving in British North America 
during the 19th century, bringing with them their social customs, work 
practices, language, and folklore while adapting to their new environment.12 

6	 Creighton, Dominion of the North, 188, and MacNutt, Atlantic Provinces, 2.
7	 Peter Pope, Fish into Wine: The Newfoundland Plantation in the Seventeenth Century (Chapel 

Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2004); Gordon Handcock, Soe Long as There Comes 
Noe Women: English Migration and Settlement in Newfoundland (Milton, ON: Global Heritage 
Press, 1989); Olaf Janzen, “‘They are not such great Rogues as some of their Neighbours’: A 
Scottish Supercargo in the Newfoundland Fish Trade, 1726,” Newfoundland and Labrador 
Studies 17, no. 2 (Fall 2001): 209-31.

8	 W.T. Easterbrook and Hugh G.J. Aitken, eds., Canadian Economic History (Toronto: Macmillan, 
1963), 242; Eric W. Sager and Gerard E. Panting, Maritime Capital: The Shipping Industry in 
Atlantic Canada 1820-1914 (Montreal and Kingston: McGill-Queen’s University Press, 1990), 
37; Graeme Wynn, Timber Colony: A Historical Geography of Early Nineteenth-Century New 
Brunswick (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1981), 4.

9	 Basil Greenhill and Ann Giffard, Westcountrymen in Prince Edward’s Isle (Toronto and Buffalo: 
University of Toronto Press, 1967). This work traces the transoceanic business ventures of a 
number of English immigrant entrepreneurs who were engaged in the timber and shipping 
trades in PEI from the 1790s.

10	 Edward McCarron, “The World of Kavanagh and Cottril: A Portrait of Irish Emigration, 
Entrepreneurship, and Ethnic Diversity in Mid-Maine, 1760-1820” (PhD thesis, University of New 
Hampshire, 1992).

11	 Bowen, Mancke, and Reid, Britain’s Oceanic Empire, 161; Bruce S. Elliott, Irish Migrants in the 
Canadas: A New Approach (Montreal and Kingston: McGill-Queen’s University Press, 1988); 
Suranyi, Atlantic Connection.

12	 Examples of this extensive literature include John Mannion, Irish Settlements in Eastern 
Canada: A Study of Cultural Transfer and Adaptation (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1974); 
Donald MacKay, Flight From Famine: The Coming of the Irish to Canada (Toronto and London: 
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Irish merchants played a pivotal role in the transatlantic economy, aided by 
a growing network of kin and neighbours that reinforced community bonds 
in the new world while encouraging further migration from Ireland.13 The 
markedly strong ties between Ireland and the Maritime provinces have been 
elucidated by a number of scholars, with the Irish constituting the “largest 
single ethnic group” in New Brunswick during the 19th century.14

Despite the impact of the Atlantic perspective on our knowledge of 
British America, it has had comparatively limited inf luence on the field of 
architectural history.15 Scholars have begun to address this lacuna in recent 
years by uncovering some of the multi-faceted ways the built environment is 
primary evidence for exchanges in migrant labour, knowledge, and material 
culture between Britain and North America.16 Of particular relevance is 
Daniel Maudlin and Bernard Herman’s 2016 volume, the first overarching 
work of scholarship to address the subject of architecture and urbanism 
across the British Atlantic world.17 The book analyzes a range of built forms 
and spaces in a number of diverse locations, including the eastern seaboard 
of North America, the Caribbean, West Africa, and the British Isles. Valuable 
and compelling though all of the above studies are, the focus is mainly on the 
outward flow of ideas and influence from Britain to different Atlantic locations 
– especially during the early modern period. Little attention, however, has been 

McClelland & Stewart, 1990); Scott W. See, ‘“An unprecedented influx’: Nativism and Irish 
Famine Immigration to Canada,” American Review of Canadian Studies 30, no. 4 (Winter 2000): 
429-53; and David T. Gleeson, ed., The Irish in the Atlantic World (Colombia: University of South 
Carolina Press, 2012).

13	 Cecil J. Houston and William J. Smyth, Irish Emigration and Canadian Settlement: Patterns, Links, 
& Letters (Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1990).

14	 Peter Toner, ed., New Ireland Remembered: Historical Essays on the Irish in New Brunswick, 
(Fredericton: New Ireland Press, 1988); Brendan O’Grady, Exiles and Islanders: The Irish Settlers 
of Prince Edward Island (Montreal and Kingston: McGill-Queen’s University Press, 2004); John 
Mannion, “Irish Merchants Abroad: The Newfoundland Experience, 1750-1850,“ Newfoundland 
Studies 2, no. 2 (Fall 1986): 127-90.

15	 Daniel Maudlin, “Architecture and Identity on the Edge of Empire: The Early Domestic 
Architecture of Scottish Settlers in Nova Scotia, Canada, 1800-1850,” Architectural History 50 
(2007): 116.

16	 Maudlin, “Architecture and Identity on the Edge of Empire”; Daniel Maudlin and Robert Peels, 
eds., The Materials of Exchange Between Britain and North East America, 1750-1900 (Farnham, 
UK: Ashgate, 2013); G.A. Bremner, ed., Architecture and Urbanism in the British Empire (Oxford: 
Oxford University Press, 2016); G.A. Bremner, Imperial Gothic: Religious Architecture and High 
Anglican Culture in the British Empire, c. 1840-70 (New Haven, CT: Yale University Press, 2013); 
Conor Lucey, Building Reputations: Architecture and the Artisan, 1750-1830 (Manchester: 
Manchester University Press, 2018).

17	 Daniel Maudlin and Bernard L. Herman, eds., Building the British Atlantic World: Spaces, Places 
and Material Culture, 1600-1850 (Chapel Hill: University of North Carolina Press, 2016). 
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paid to the reverse flow – the impact of Atlantic culture on the architecture of 
the British Isles.18

Within the context of this historiography, this article links the export 
of New Brunswick timber to Victorian city building in the British Isles 
by examining the contribution of three Irish merchant brothers and their 
engagement in the transoceanic trades during mainly the first half of the 19th 
century. It investigates the interrelationships between the various strands of 
their businesses at home and abroad, following the exchange of timber and 
ships for a range of manufactured goods. At their peak, the Carvill merchants 
managed a lucrative operation that included 35 ocean-going vessels as well as a 
prosperous trade in timber and other goods between Europe, North America, 
and beyond. The most notable feature of the firm was its broad geographical 
reach, which was not only trans-Atlantic in scope but also imperial: its 
ships sailed not only to the West Indies but as far as the Indian colonies and 
Southeast Asia. Although its engagement in the timber, passenger, and shipping 
trades is paralleled in other studies,19 its expansion into land speculation 
and church and house construction on both sides of the Atlantic reveals an 
impressive strategy of business pluralism in which expanding diversification 
was part of risk management. Finally, this examination of the complex and 
far-reaching economic networks of the Carvills provides fresh insight into 
the substantial impact of New Brunswick’s transoceanic lumber trade on the 
construction industry in Britain and (especially) Ireland.

From Ireland to British North America: the early years of the Carvills, 
1800-1849
Francis Carvill was born into a large Catholic farming family c. 1800 in the 
Mourne area of County Down, in the northeast of Ireland.20 He first appeared 

18	 G.A. Bremner, “Review of Building the British Atlantic World: Spaces, Places and Material 
Culture, 1600-1850,” Britain and the World 10, no. 1 (2007): 116. Exceptions are the work of Peter 
Borsay and Ann Saunders, which highlight the impact of Atlantic trade on early 18th-century 
Britain as reflected in the mercantile exchanges, custom houses, town halls, and merchant 
residences of London, Bristol, and Liverpool; see Peter Borsay, The English Urban Renaissance: 
Culture and Society in the Provincial Town 1660-1770 (Oxford: Clarendon Press, 1989) and Ann 
Saunders, ed., Royal Exchange (London: London Topographical Survey, 1997).

19	 Examples of this literature include John Mannion, “Irish Merchants Abroad,” 127 and Edward 
McCarron, “Facing the Atlantic: The Irish Merchant Community of Lincoln County, 1780-1820,” 
in They Change Their Sky: The Irish in Maine, ed. Michael C. Connolly (Orono, ME: University of 
Maine Press, 2004), 64. See also Louis Cullen, Economy, Trade and Irish Merchants At Home and 
Abroad, 1600-1988 (Dublin: Four Courts Press, 2012).

20	 Patrick Devlin, “Francis Carvill (1800-1854),” Dictionary of Ulster Biography, http://www.
newulsterbiography.co.uk/index.php/home/viewPerson/2058.
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in the directories at the age of 26, operating as an ironmonger and hardware 
man in the port town of Newry. Within a few years, Francis had taken over 
the extensive iron mills there, where he manufactured spades and shovels 
for distribution to the surrounding towns.21 By 1836 he was involved in the 
passenger trade: he advertised space on a new ship that would sail from Newry 
to New Brunswick that year, claiming it to be “a most desirable Vessel for 
Emigrants.” The vessel was only six months old and had recently landed a 
cargo of “first quality” timber from New Brunswick, which was offered for 
sale in Newry. Francis Carvill announced that he was also awaiting the arrival 
of six other ships, bringing timber from Quebec and Memel, and iron from 
Wales and Scotland.22 His younger brother William had emigrated that year 
to Saint John in New Brunswick, the province’s chief port and primary centre 
for mercantile trading. Another younger brother George followed in 1844; as 
young men they were engaged in the iron, timber, and shipping trades in the 
city.23 It is likely that William and George had served their apprenticeships with 
their older brother in Newry, and then set sail across the Atlantic to establish 
the North American side of the business. Like other emerging immigrant 
merchant families, the Carvill brothers forged new opportunities on foreign 
soil while maintaining strong connections with industry at home.24

Initially, William Carvill had focused on shipping goods directly from his 
home port town of Newry in Ireland. In the spring of 1837, though, he was 
advertising the arrival of a cargo of Irish foodstuffs, including 16,000 gallons 
of potatoes, 20 barrels of pork and quantities of butter, flour, and oatmeal that 
could be purchased directly from the vessel. In addition, he was selling 60 
containers of “Swansea coals, for Smiths’ use” as well as 400 firebricks and 
12 casks of fire clay destined for the foundries. The shipment included many 
metal products: there was an assortment of iron in the form of 4,570 bars and 
310 bundles, 312 locks, and 70 tea kettles as well as wrought iron nails, chains, 

21	 Old Newry Society, The Book of Newry (Newry, IE: Old Newry Publications, 2008), 118.
22	 Belfast Newsletter (Belfast), 22 July 1836. Memel was one of the main timber ports in the Baltic 

region, which is located in modern-day Lithuania.
23	 James Hannay, St. John and Its Business: A History of St. John (St. John, NB: H. Chubb & Co., 

1875), 77.
24	 For related studies of Scottish merchants operating in the shipping and timber trades in New 

Brunswick, see David S. Macmillan, “The ‘New Men’ in Action: Scottish Mercantile and Shipping 
Operations in the North American Colonies, 1760-1825,” in Canadian Business History: Selected 
Studies, 1497-1971, ed. David S. Macmillan (Toronto: McClelland and Stewart, 1972), 44-103; For 
an account of Irish timber merchants in Maine, see Edward McCarron, “Facing the Atlantic: The 
Irish Merchant Community of Lincoln County, 1780-1820,” in Connolly, They Change Their Sky, 
61-95. 
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tin plates, 600 spades, and 6 bundles of blister steel.25 While some of this cargo 
likely came from his brother’s mills in Newry, most of it was sourced from 
different parts of the United Kingdom – a reflection of the city’s links with 
other trading ports, particularly on the west coast of Britain.26 Within three 
months William had landed another shipment from Newry, which included 
100 tons of the “best No. 1 Scotch Pig Iron,” 35,000 bricks, and 400 bushels of 
barley. Scottish pig iron was a staple in the North American trade: it paid good 
freight and was known as useful ballast.27 The cargo included chains, spikes, 
tin plates, and 20 tons of assorted iron as well as ship winches, canvas, and sail 
twine, much of it destined for shipbuilding use.28 By 1838 William Carvill had 
established premises on Nelson Street in the Kings Ward area of Saint John, the 
heart of the city’s Catholic community (Figure 1).29 The street was characterized 
by iron stores and warehouses and was located just behind the North Market 
Wharf, where schooners and brigantines lined up laden with produce. William 
offered English, Scotch, and Swedish iron at his warehouse that year, recently 
arrived on a shipment from Newry, as well as 100 chaldrons of coal from 
Liverpool30 and a large range of metal products – from forge bellows to anvils 
and shovels and from sheathing copper to sheets of brass.31 It is likely that some 
of these goods were acting as ballast: various products, from iron shovels to 
coal to rock and sea salt, were often used to provide stability to ships.32

25	 New Brunswick Courier (Saint John), 3 June 1837. Blister steel is crude steel formed from 
wrought iron by cementation. Bundles are rods or bars of iron/steel bound and forge welded 
together; see Alex W. Bealer, The Art of Blacksmithing (Edison, NJ: Castle Books, 2009), 28-35.

26	 According to Hannay, the majority of hardware store goods in Saint John came from England 
until the 1870s, when imports from the United States greatly increased; see Hannay, St John 
and Its Business, 76.

27	 New Brunswick Courier, 2 September 1837; J.R. Killick, “Liverpool Merchants and American 
Shipping: William Brown and the Cope Line of Philadelphia-Liverpool Packets, 1822-1880,” 
Northern History 37, no. 1 (December 2000): 187. 

28	 “Local foundries undoubtedly supplied part of the iron needs of the industry, but primary 
iron, along with chain and anchor, sailcloth, steam engines, and other ships commodities were 
mainly imported for the use of the shipbuilders”; see T.W. Acheson, Saint John: The Making of a 
Colonial Community (Toronto, Buffalo, and London: University of Toronto Press, 1985), 18, and 
New Brunswick Courier, 24 August 1844.

29	 He bought this plot of ground in 1840 for 500 pounds; see John Alexander to William Carvill, 
5 May 1840, St. John Registry of Deeds, BKY2, Provincial Archives of New Brunswick (PANB), 
Fredericton, as well as Acheson, Saint John, 112, 120, 156.

30	 A chaldron was an English measure of dry volume mainly used for coal. One hundred chaldrons 
of Newcastle coal weighed between 285,000 and 297,800 pounds.

31	 New Brunswick Courier, 29 September 1838.
32	 Further evidence of this are the reports of ballast entering Saint John on a number of Carvill 

ships; see New Brunswick Courier, 7 November 1846 and 19 June 1847; The Gazette (Montreal), 9 
March 1880; William M. Stanton to Alice M. Rainnie, 14 September 1931, Rainnie Family Papers, 
CB DOC/1176, New Brunswick Museum Library and Archives (NBM), Saint John.
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By 1842 the Carvill store on Nelson Street was well stocked with refined 
and common iron, German steel, stoves, grates, and pots in addition to 
farmers’ spades and miners’ shovels. Although metals were the core of the 
Carvill import business, they also stocked the “best Liverpool soap,” American 
f lour, and Irish malt whiskey.33 During the 1840s, William’s advertisements 
increased: he imported oakum from London and iron from Staffordshire, 
Bristol, Liverpool, and the Clyde.34 He also received goods on consignment, 
such as the supplies of tobacco and gunpowder tea that he imported from New 
York and the cases of Irish linen that landed from Newry.35 The variety of these 
imports were clearly a response to localized domestic markets. As Douglas 
McCalla has shown for Upper Canada, settler families were reliant on a wide 
range of purchased goods bought in local stores that had for the most part been 
imported from the United Kingdom.36

After the depletion of homegrown forests by the middle of the 17th century, 
Britain began to rely increasingly on foreign supplies of timber. Most of 
this was sourced in the Baltic Sea region of Northern Europe, while North 
American timber made up a relatively small share of British imports. However, 

33	 New Brunswick Courier, 4 June 1842, 2 July 1842, and 19 November 1842.
34	 New Brunswick Courier, 26 June 1847, 2 October 1847, and 1 January 1848.
35	 New Brunswick Courier, 15 August 1846, 13 November 1847, and 16 December 1848.
36	 Douglas McCalla, Consumers in the Bush: Shopping in Rural Canada (Montreal and Kingston: 

McGill-Queen’s University Press, 2015).

Figure 1 – Carvill premises, Nelson Street (location in solid black).
Source: Plans of St. John’s Ward, R.B. Roe and N. Geo. Colby, Atlas of Saint John City and County 
(Saint John, NB: Roe & Colby, 1875).
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during the first decade of the 19th century, political tensions in Europe marked 
a sea change for the wood industry in British North America. By 1808, two 
years after the Napoleonic blockade, Baltic supplies had plummeted and Britain 
was importing 70 per cent of its timber from its British North American 
colonies (compared to just 1.3 per cent in 1800).37 The following year the British 
government increased import duties on all foreign timber, largely ensuring 
Britain’s reliance on Canadian markets for decades to come. These changes 
had a dramatic impact on the timber market in British North America, which 
coincided with the rise of industry in Britain. Between 1801 and 1851 more than 
1.9 million houses were built in Britain to cater for a booming population, 
leading to an exponential growth in the demand for timber.38 The arrival of 
the railway also created an unprecedented demand, with over 1,700 sleepers 
needed to lay each mile of track – “sleepers” are the timber boards on to which 
iron rails are laid – as well as the large quantities required to furnish carriages 
and to build new railway stations. Forests 4,000 miles away, therefore, became 
the source for Victorian church timbers, warehouses, ships, and railway 
infrastructure in a growing industrial Britain. New Brunswick was strategically 
placed to benefit from these developments. Bordering the Atlantic Ocean, the 
region was equipped with a large river system that enabled exploitation of its 
extensive pine and spruce forests. Exports of ton timber multiplied almost 
twentyfold between 1805 and 1812, and increased over four times as much by 
1825. The port of Saint John became increasingly important as a centre of trade 
– a deep-water port that stayed ice-free all year long.39

When William Carvill landed in British North America in 1836, he found 
a booming urban economy in Saint John where, over the following five years, 
there was a substantial expansion of industry in the city.40 The 1830s was 
particularly significant in marking the transition from ton timber (balks of 
wood hewn square) to lumber (processed wood). This led to the building and 
expansion of saw mills, and the quantity of deal41 exports from Saint John 

37	 Louis Vandenabeele, Inge Bertels, and Ine Wouters, “Baltic Shipping Marks on Nineteenth-
Century Timber: Their Deciphering and a Proposal for Classifying Old Timber,” Construction 
History 31, no. 2 (2016): 160; Wynn, Timber Colony, 4.

38	 The population increased two-and-a-half times during this time, from 8.3 to 20.9 million 
inhabitants; see “A Vision of Britain Through Time,” Census of Great Britain, 1801 and 1851, 
http://www.visionofbritain.org.uk/.

39	 Acheson, Saint John, 4, 5; Wynn, Timber Colony, 33.
40	 Despite the difficulties experienced during the depression of 1837, lumber and deal exports 

continued to increase rapidly; see Acheson, Saint John, 14, and Wynn, Timber Colony, 50.
41	 A deal is a board or plank of softwood timber, such as fir or pine, cut to a standard size. 
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almost tripled in that decade from 30 to 80 million feet.42 During his initial 
years in the city, Carvill capitalized on this new market demand. In 1838, a year 
of increased timber exports due to a spurt of railway building in Britain, he 
placed two notices in the local newspaper: one to purchase 500,000 superficial 
feet of deals, and another to charter a vessel to carry a cargo of deals to an 
unspecified port in Ireland.43 As his ships were returning mainly with iron 
goods from Britain, he could exchange some of these as part payment for the 
timber as other merchants were doing.44 By the late 1830s, he was just one of the 
many merchants exporting local timber from New Brunswick and importing 
metal goods and other products from the United Kingdom.

In 1841 the British timber market collapsed, leading to an economic crisis 
that ripped through the Saint John economy.45 That year public meetings 
were held in the city to petition Queen Victoria against the proposed removal 
of duties on Baltic timber, which had protected the colonial lumber market 
since the Napoleonic blockade.46 By 1842, although timber exports from the 
province were falling,47 Carvill continued in the trade; by the end of that year, 
he was offering 600 tons of white pine for sale as well as 200,000 superficial 
feet each of pine boards and deals.48 William’s younger brother George arrived 
in Saint John in 1844, where he worked in his brother’s iron store on Nelson 
Street. Within two years, George had taken a leasehold interest in a saw mill 
along with two other lumber manufacturers a few miles further up the St. John 
river at Milford in Lancaster.49 The mill was one of a number operating in the 
area; deals sawn here usually travelled down the river in small boats, where 
they were delivered at the city wharfs for reloading onto ships.50 From the 

42	 Acheson, Saint John, 11-13.
43	 Wynn, Timber Colony, 50; New Brunswick Courier, 17 February 1838.
44	 New Brunswick Courier, 26 November 1842.
45	 T. W. Acheson, “The Great Merchant and Economic Development in St. John 1820-1850,” 

Acadiensis 8, no. 2 (Spring 1979): 17.
46	 Hannay, St. John and Its Business, 35. This had been the subject of much debate on both sides 

of the Atlantic, since the return of peace to Europe in 1815. The British government gradually 
reduced these protections from the early 1820s in response to protests, both from Baltic 
timber interests and a growing free-trade lobby.

47	 Wynn, Timber Colony, 51.
48	 New Brunswick Courier, 17 and 31 December 1842. 
49	 William Scovil to Alexander Barnhill and others, 28 February 1846, BK H3, and George Baker to 

Alexander Barnhill, 10 September 1861, BK U4, County deed registry books 1780-1930, PANB. 
Several Saint John merchants were acquiring or constructing sawmills during this time. By 1851 
there were 26 sawmills operating in the Saint John county area, each employing an average of 
28 men; see Acheson, “Great Merchant,” 14.

50	 One of George’s partners was mill man Alexander Barnhill. By 1897 this mill was being run 
by Geo. E. Barnhill (probably Alexander’s son), who sourced his logs on leased timber lands 
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mid-1840s, however, colonial lumber became increasingly under threat from 
foreign markets. By 1848 the trade in New Brunswick had been reduced by 
two-thirds, leading to an exodus of about 5,000 people from the province.51 
This was further compounded by the repeal of the Navigation Acts in 1849, 
which meant that colonial traders were now competing directly with American 
markets. These changes had an impact on the timber trade in Liverpool: that 
year there was a reduction in supplies of pine from Saint John of nearly 10,000 
logs compared to the previous year.52

The trans-Atlantic networks of the Carvills also extended into the realm 
of emigration and settlement. The eldest brother Francis had introduced 
shipbuilding to the town of Newry in 1845 by launching the vessel the Mary 
Anne from his building yard on Merchant’s Quay.53 By this time he had a 
range of enterprises, dealing as an “iron merchant, hardwareman, spade, 
shovel manufacturer, timber and slate merchant.”54 He operated from two 
premises: one on Merchant’s Quay and another at Sugar Island, the latter of 
which included a sawing and planing mill, a spade and shovel factory, and a 
weaving factory – all powered by a “modern steam plant.” During the worst 
years of the Great Irish Potato Famine Francis remained the main emigration 
agent in Newry, securing passages on numerous vessels between Ireland 
and North America.55 An example is the 1,000-ton vessel named the British 
Queen, advertised as a “superior copper-fastened, fast-sailing packet-ship” 
that would set sail from Warrenpoint to New Brunswick in 1846.56 The vessel, 
he claimed, was “very spacious and lofty,” well-ventilated, and equipped with 
“Breadstuffs and Water” and suitable for emigrants to Saint John or Boston. 
The trans-Atlantic voyage was often perilous, and many ships made the 
journey only once during the Famine period. However, Francis Carvill’s ship, 

in northern New Brunswick, Quebec, and Aroostook. The mill was equipped with “all the 
machinery requisite to produce well-manufactured lumber,” with “ample wharves” for piling 
and shipping the lumber mainly to Britain, the United States, and South America. See Timber 
Trades Journal, The Wood Industries of Canada (London: William Rider & Son, 1897), 56.

51	 Ronald Rees, New Brunswick: An Illustrated History (Halifax: Nimbus, 2014), 134.
52	 New Brunswick Courier, 15 September 1849.
53	 Belfast Newsletter, 5 December 1845.
54	 Deirdre McCarthy, genealogist, interview by author, 7 May 2011, Dublin, copies of genealogical 

data in possession of author. 
55	 As Houston and Smyth have found for Derry port, passages were touted and sold by a 

network of agents operating in major market towns within a 50-mile radius. These agents were 
usually local merchants who provided information on sailings and who might also arrange for 
the transfer of emigrants to ports of embarkation; see Houston and Smyth, Irish Emigration 
and Canadian Settlement, 86-7.

56	 Belfast Newsletter, 5 May 1846.
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aptly named The Brothers, made a 
voyage every year from Newry to 
New York – a total of ten Atlantic 
crossings during the Famine era.57  
In New Brunswick William Carvill 
also offered space for passengers on 
ships to ports in Britain and Ireland, 
such as the “fast sailing ship” he 
promoted in September 1843 – soon 
to set sail direct for Newry with 
“excel lent accommodations for 
Cabin Passengers.” Working as a 
commission agent, he was offering 
space on another of his ships three 
years later,  where a few cabin 
passengers could be “comfortably 
accommodated” on a voyage to 
Liverpool.58 Thus the Carvills do not 
appear in the records as operators of 
the disease-ridden and overcrowded “coffin ships,” so often a feature of Irish 
Famine literature (Figure 2). Rather, their involvement in the passenger trades 
was a logical extension of their role as trans-Atlantic merchants – particularly 
during times of mass emigration.59

Like many of their fellow North American traders, many timber merchants 
were also investors in shipping in Saint John.60 With a product destined mainly 
for ports in Britain and Ireland, these timber merchants could increase profits 

57	 Edward Laxton, The Famine Ships: The Irish Exodus to America, 1846-51 (London: Bloomsbury, 
1997), 22.

58	 New Brunswick Courier, 23 September 1843 and 7 November 1846.
59	 As Houston and Smyth have found in Derry, it is also likely that William and Francis Carvill 

were operating in business together as agents. William had the knowledge of local conditions 
(e.g., jobs, housing, land) to aid emigrants arriving in British North America, which could further 
encourage subsequent emigrant departures from Ireland; see Houston and Smyth, Irish 
Emigration and Canadian Settlement, 87.

60	 William Carvill was also involved in the cordage and rope trades, and he imported patent 
machinery from Liverpool for this business in the 1840s. Cordage and rope was used mainly 
for shipping. See “Journal of the House of Assembly of the Province of New Brunswick,” Early 
Canadiana Online, January-April 1846 (p. 201), and January-March 1848 (p. 120), http://eco.
canadiana.ca/view/oocihm.9_00951.

Figure 2 – Poster by Francis Carvill advertising 
for passage on a ship from Ireland to New 
Brunswick, 17 May 1847.
Source: Newry & Mourne Museum, Newry, Co. 
Down, Ireland.
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by selling both cargo and ship on arrival.61 New Brunswick vessels, constructed 
with local materials and built more cheaply than in Britain, were in great 
demand there despite the costs and risks associated with the trans-Atlantic 
voyage. William Carvill was first recorded as a ship owner in 1836, the year 
of his arrival in New Brunswick, when he launched a schooner of 70 tons.62 
Over time, his vessels increased in size. During the 13 years that he spent in 
British North America, William invested in at least 14 ships; he was the sole 
owner of at least four of these, and shared ownership with the remainder. The 
majority were sold within a year or two of their launch, probably to minimize 
the risks associated with the trans-Atlantic voyage. Most of the ships were sold 
either in Newry or Liverpool, with a few in other ports in Scotland and Ireland. 
These were all locations of the main purchasers of British North American 
vessels.63 Even after sale, William continued to trade goods in some of these 
ships: an example is the 730-ton vessel, the New Zealand, which he launched 
in February 1842 but sold it in Newry 17 months later.64 Within two months 
William was announcing its return to Saint John, laden with a cargo of iron 
and tin from Liverpool.65 The New Zealand demonstrates the Carvill family’s 
links with kin networks in Saint John: it had been built by James T. Smith, 
a shipbuilder originally from Monaghan in Ulster (not far from Carvill’s 
home county). Smith had emigrated to New Brunswick in 1819, where he cut 
timber before working in the shipyards of Saint John.66 Furthermore, at least 
five of William’s vessels were built by the Ruddock family from Kinsale in 
Ireland, who were major shipbuilders in the city.67 An example is the vessel 

61	 C.R. Fay and H.A. Innis, “The Maritime Provinces,“ in Cambridge History of the British Empire, 
Vol. VI (New York: Macmillan, 1930); H.A. Innis, Essays in Canadian Economic History (Toronto: 
University of Toronto Press, 1956).

62	 “Ships and Seafarers of Atlantic Canada,” Maritime History Archive, https://www.mun.ca/mha/
holdings/names/index.php.

63	 Sager and Panting, Maritime Capital, 32. Of the 14 ships found to be owned, or partly owned, 
by William Carvill, records have been found for 13 of these. Four were sold in Liverpool, five in 
Newry, one in Wexford (Ireland), one in Alloa (Scotland), and two in New Brunswick. He shared 
ownership with one to three other parties, usually merchants or mariners. 

64	 This was the same “fast sailing ship” previously mentioned (p. 101).
65	 L. Norton Wyse, “New Brunswick Shipbuilders Checklist, Saint John County” in Saint John Ships 

and Their Builders, ed. James T. Smith and Esther Clark Wright (Saint John: Esther Clark Wright, 
1976), 79.

66	 Wyse, “New Brunswick Shipbuilders Checklist,” in Smith and Wright, Saint John Ships. Between 
1836 and 1865 James T. Smith constructed 37 vessels, and his firm became a household name 
when it built the record-breaking ship the Marco Polo, deemed the fastest in the world by 
1852. It made the round-trip voyage from Liverpool to Australia in just 68 days, beating the 
steamer by a week. The event brought renown to Liverpool port and increased demand for 
New Brunswick ships from brokers all over Britain.

67	 Smith & Wright, Saint John Ships; Rees, New Brunswick, 87. 
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they built for him in 1847, the Loch Steoy, which was claimed to be a “very 
superior and splendid coppered ship” and “equal, in point of model, materials 
and workmanship, to any vessel ever built at this port.”68 William and George 
also invested in ships together. They were joint owners of the 871-ton ship, the 
Charles Chaloner, which, in 1846, made its maiden voyage to Liverpool that 
year, probably with a cargo of deals. The ship returned to New Brunswick with 
ballast in November, and set sail again for Liverpool nine days later, where it 
was finally sold the following year.69 The Carvill brothers were not the only 
owners of this vessel as they shared it with two merchants – Edward Chaloner 
and Quinton Fleming – eminent timber brokers in the city of Liverpool and 
thus attracting buyers from all parts.70 The city was the chief lumber port of 
the British empire, and Liverpool merchants dominated the British timber 
trade.71 As importers of iron and other products from Europe, and exporters 
of timber and ships from North America, the Carvills had by this time laid 
the foundations of a successful trans-Atlantic merchant firm, with respectable 
international connections.

William Carvill’s return to Ireland: 1849-1870
1849 was a tumultuous year in Saint John, which saw two fires in the city and 
some of the worst ethno-religious riots in New Brunswick’s history; clashes 
between Irish Catholics and Protestants killed at least ten people.72 William 
Carvill returned to Ireland that year, his home country still grappling with 
the fallout from the mass disease, starvation, and emigration of the Famine 
years.73 Leaving his younger brother George in charge of the business in Saint 
John, William travelled to Dublin and married into a prominent Catholic 
merchant family the following year.74 As part of the marriage settlement 
he acquired a number of landholdings, including 21 acres in Rathgar – a 
growing suburb adjoining the city.75  While making a new life in Ireland, 

68	 New Brunswick Courier, 26 June 1847.
69	 New Brunswick Courier, 7 November 1846; Smith and Wright, Saint John Ships.
70	 Bryan Latham, History of the Timber Trade Federation of the United Kingdom (London: Ernest 

Benn, 1965), 18.
71	 Acheson, Saint John, 11; Rees, New Brunswick, 70.
72	 Scott W. See, Riots in New Brunswick: Orange Nativism and Social Violence in the 1840s 

(Toronto: University of Toronto Press, 1993).
73	 Saint John Globe, 18 December 1884.
74	 Belfast Newsletter, 12 February 1850.
75	 William Carvill to William Todd (copy of original lease from 18 August 1863), vol. 15, memorial 

236, Registry of Deeds, Dublin; Family and estate papers, maps, and rentals, acc. no. 1146/3/2, 
National Archives of Ireland (NAI), Dublin.
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though, William continued to collaborate with his younger brother George in 
British North America. In January 1850 they changed the name of the firm 
to “William & George Carvill,” a partnership that would last for another 19 
years.76 Saint John began to recover from the commercial difficulties of the 
preceding years, and there was a substantial growth in business in the city 
from 1851. The Carvills continued to export lumber to Dublin and their ships 
returned mainly with cargoes of iron, which would help supply the “important 
and heavy manufacturing interests of St. John and the province” for many 
years to come.77

When the elder Carvill brother Francis died in Newry in 1854, he was hailed 
as the largest employer and the most extensive trader in the port.78 The business 
was taken over by his son, and within a few years William and his nephew were 
advertising the sale of two vessels that had recently arrived in Dublin from 
New Brunswick. In October 1857, for instance, they announced the landing 
of the barque the Emerald Isle, which had been launched the previous month 
in Saint John and was described as a “beautiful New Clipper Barque” – a fast 
sailing ship that had travelled to Ireland in just 22 days.79 A brigantine was 
also for sale: built for private use the previous year in Saint John, it has since 
been upgraded with new masts, spars, sails, rigging, anchors, and chains.80 
That same year a Newry newspaper reported the launch of a “splendid ship of 
about 1,000 tons burden” from a building yard in Saint John, called the William 
Carvill, “after one of our enterprising merchants.”81 This ship was owned by 
William’s brother George, and would set sail from Wales to Calcutta in 1861, 
making the 7,726-mile voyage in just more than four months. It continued to 
trade in the ports of Ceylon, Mauritius, and India over the next two years, 
and was mastered by a George Copeland, from Warrenpoint in County Down. 
Joseph Seeds of Dublin took over this ship in 1865, and sailed it from India to 
Yemen, and onwards to Burma over the next few years, until it was finally sold 

76	 New Brunswick Courier, 18 January 1851; Saint John Globe, 18 December 1884. 
77	 Hannay, St. John and Its Business, 77.
78	 Patrick Devlin, “Francis Carvill (1800-1854),” Dictionary of Ulster Biography, http://www.

newulsterbiography.co.uk/index.php/home/viewPerson/2058; Freeman’s Journal (Dublin), 22 
February 1854.

79	 This ship’s first port of arrival in Ireland was in Queenstown the previous month, where both 
vessel and cargo were put up for sale; see Freeman’s Journal, 1 October 1857.

80	 Freeman’s Journal, 12 October 1857. The advertisement claimed that this ship had been 
“admirably adapted for the West Indian or Mediterranean Trades.”

81	 McEvoy interview; Belfast Newsletter, 22 May 1857; Canadian News and British American 
Intelligence, 10 June 1857.
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in Dublin in 1872.82 Clearly, by this 
point, the Carvills had extended their 
horizons from the trans-Atlantic 
merchant trade to operate in other 
British colonial territories bordering 
the Indian Ocean.

The 1850s was a time of increased 
building activity in Dublin city, 
as  improvements in t ra nspor t 
and communications solidif ied 
its place as the capital of business 
and commerce in Ireland.83 By 1853 
William had established himself 
as a corn merchant in the city at 
the centre of the timber trade, at a 
site on Sir John Rogerson’s Quay.84 
The capital was in the process of 
transformation, as speculators began to carve out new roads in the newly 
emerging suburbs outside the city boundaries. William took possession 
of his lands in one of these districts that year – a 21-acre site straddling the 
Dodder River in Rathgar – consisting of an assembly of structures, including 
a mill-race, a calico mill, and a medium-sized house (Figure 3). By 1857 he 
had converted the existing industrial structures to a saw mill and advertised 
the arrival of a number of shipments of timber that year, including 500 tons 
of pine and birch timber from Saint John.85 On arrival in Dublin, some of 
this was auctioned off at his premises in the city while the remainder went 
for processing at his “Rathgar Saw Mills.”86 Due to a post-Famine rise in 
construction activity, timber imports had been rising in recent years so that 
by 1859 Dublin imported almost twice as much lumber as Belfast.87

82	 It was condemned and sold as bulk two years later; see Wyse, “New Brunswick Shipbuilders 
Checklist,” in Smith and Wright, Saint John Ships.

83	 David Dickson, Dublin: The Making of a Capital City (Dublin: Profile Books, 2014), 366.
84	 Alexander Thom and Sons, Thom’s Irish Almanac and Official Directory (Dublin: Thom and Sons, 

1853). 
85	 Freeman’s Journal, 25 November 1857.
86	 He also continued to operate as a corn merchant at 38 Sir John Rogerson’s Quay until at least 

1865; see Thom’s Irish Almanac and Official Directory, 1860-1865. 
87	 Andy Bielenberg, Ireland and The Industrial Revolution: The Impact Of the Industrial Revolution 

On Irish Industry, 1801-1922 (London & New York: Routledge, 2009), 197.

Figure 3 – William Carvill at his home in 
Dublin, undated.
Source: John Carvill, great-grandson of William 
Carvill, private collection.
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Figure 4 – John Martin & Son timber merchants, Dublin.
Source: Dublin Builder, 1 February 1860.

Much of this timber provided the raw material for the city’s busiest period 
of domestic construction. The 1860s was a time of a flourishing of the building 
trades, as Ireland benefitted from Britain’s mid-Victorian boom and a post-
Famine economic upturn. This is reflected in a report from the Dublin Builder 
in 1860, which predicted a busy building season as it boasted: “Our suburbs 
are extending, green fields are metamorphosed into populous districts . . . 
“bustle” is the word in every quarter, and the welcome sounds of the hammer 
and trowel are met at each step.” By 1862 there were eight saw mills in Dublin, 
most of them operating from a wholesale yard on the quays where new steam-
powered machinery manufactured doors, sashes, and mouldings faster and 
cheaper than ever before. Timber merchants advertised in local newspapers, 
announcing the arrival of red deals from Norway as well as white American 
oak and red pine from British North America, Mexico, and Russia; much of 
this went to fuel the housing boom.88 Martin & Sons were Carvill’s competitors: 
they advertised alongside them in January 1859, promoting “several Cargoes of 
North American and Baltic WOOD GOODS at the Custom House Docks. The 

88	 Dublin Builder, 1 February 1859.
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firm had recently erected an extensive sawmill at North Wall Quay, which was 
illustrated by the Dublin Builder the following year (Figure 4). The drawing 
demonstrates the potential scale of such an operation, where a labyrinth of 
yards stored a wide variety of timber; the saw mill was central to the complex, 
where planing and moulding machines manufactured sawn timber including 
railway wagons and furniture. Nearby, a timber wharf was being extended on 
a continuous basis to cope with the increasing loads of timber imports to the 
city.89

From the late 17th century, fire prevention laws ensured that the majority 
of houses in Britain and Ireland would in time be faced with either brick or 
stone.90 Behind every masonry façade, however, was a supporting structure of 
timber, including floor and ceiling joists, roof rafters, and trusses. The material 
was also used to build internal partitions, staircases, doors, windows, moulded 
archways, skirtings, and furniture. It was, therefore, a key raw material in the 
domestic construction market, equalling, on average, about 30 per cent of the 
total cost of a house.91 A standard terraced house required several kinds of 
wood: in Dublin one specification stipulated “picked red pine” for the windows 
and external doors, and “Norway boards” for the floors. Pine was used for all 
building purposes, but in a typical house it was often used to form bearing 
timbers, external windows and doors, staircases, and f looring. In the early 
years white pine was in plentiful supply in New Brunswick, producing logs 
of up to 80 feet in length, but there was a gradual changeover to spruce when 
pine supplies began to deplete.92 Spruce was also used for inferior forms of 
carpentry, such as floor joists, studding, and rafters, and as a cheaper flooring 
finish.93 William Carvill was importing both types of timber into Dublin in 
the 1850s: he landed a cargo of “St. John Pine” and white and red pine from 
Quebec in 1857, but over the following years he also imported large quantities 

89	 Dublin Builder, 1 May 1859 and 1 February 1860.
90	 Elizabeth McKellar, The Birth of Modern London: The Development and Design of the City 1660-

1720 (Manchester and New York: Manchester University Press, 1999), 157.
91	 This estimate of about 30 per cent was calculated using the following priced estimates: 

estimate for the erection of a house in Fitzwilliam Park, Belfast, 1896, acc. no. D2194/76/6 and 
estimate for the erection and completion of a villa at Adelaide Park, Belfast, 1891, acc. no. 
D2194/37/9, Young & MacKenzie Architects, Public Record Office of Northern Ireland (PRONI), 
Belfast. The section allocated to the carpentry and joinery is second only to the masonry and 
brickwork, ranging from between 28 and 34 per cent of the overall cost.

92	 Timber Trades Journal, Wood Industries of Canada, 14.
93	 Bill of quantities: Private residence, Silchester Road, Dublin, 1880-1881, 77/1/B10 and numbers 

24 and 25 Grafton Street, 1864, 77/1/B02/30, both in Patterson Kempster and Shortall Papers, 
Irish Architectural Archive (IAA), Dublin.  
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of spruce.94 The cargos usually arrived already sawn into deals, planks, and 
battens, which were various sizes of processed timber used mainly for house 
construction.95 William offered a higher price for the nine-inch deal, and this 
was used for the simplest form of floor construction in Britain, consisting of 
boards fixed to a series of joists spanning from wall to wall, without the need 
for intermediate support.96 In partnership with his brother in New Brunswick, 
William Carvill continued to import large quantities of timber from British 
North America; but his trade expanded over the years to include mahogany 
from the West Indies and “Memel timber, plank and Lathwood” from the 
Baltics.97 Mahogany was used for hardwearing surfaces in houses, such as door 
saddles or handrails, and for high quality joinery and cabinetry. Lathwood – 
narrow strips of wood used as an underlying framework for plaster ceilings 
and walls – was another important component in house construction. Carvill 
also landed quantities of elm and oak timber from Quebec, used mainly in 
the shipbuilding industry, and Saint John birch, which was used mainly for 
furniture and ornamental purposes.

By 1854 Britain’s gradual reduction in protectionist policies had finally 
tipped the balance away from colonial timber markets. By 1861 the most 
common timber used in Britain was sourced mainly in the ports of Northern 
Europe, providing “the best balk timber for construction carpentry, and the 
finest deals for the finishings of the joiner.”98 When all duties on timber, both 
foreign and colonial, were finally lifted in 1866, it further shifted the balance 
in favour of European sources of lumber.99 Although British North American 
lumber no longer represented the bulk of timber imports to Britain, it was still 
known for producing “excellent” woods. In 1866 the Dublin Builder reported 

94	 Freeman’s Journal, 25 November 1857 and 11 November 1858.
95	 The deals were usually the largest in size, measuring at least 9 inches wide and 2 inches thick; 

planks were the same width but only 1-2 inches thick; and battens were 6-7 inches wide and 
2-3 inches thick. See Ragnhild Hutchison, “The Norwegian and Baltic Timber Trade to Britain 
1780-1835 and its Interconnections,” Scandinavian Journal of History 37, no. 5 (2012): 586 and 
Vandenabeele, Bertels, and Wouters, “Baltic Shipping Marks,” 162.

96	 New Brunswick Courier, 17 November, 29 September, and 15 October 1838; J.P. Allen, Practical 
Building Construction (London: Crosby Lockwood and Son, 1900), 99, 110.

97	 Freeman’s Journal, 11 November 1858 and 6 May 1861; General Advertiser (Dublin), 7 July 1860; 
Irish Builder (Dublin), 15 July and 15 December 1861.

98	 Vandenabeele, Bertels, and Wouters, “Baltic Shipping Marks,” 160. By 1854, Britain was 
importing 54 per cent of its timber from British North America (compared to 70 per cent in 
1808). And exports of New Brunswick pine generally fell from 100,000 tons in 1856 to 27,174 tons 
in 1865. See Easterbrook and Aitken, Canadian Economic History, 243; Thomas Morris, A House 
For The Suburbs (London: Simpkin, Marshall & Co., 1860), 151; and Dublin Builder, 15 June 1861.

99	 Timber Trades Journal, Wood Industries of Canada, 17.
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that British North American white, red, and yellow pine was still in demand in 
European markets due to its superior quality and size.100 To further complicate 
matters, Canadian pine timber was reportedly mixed up and sold as Baltic pine, 
as it was only slightly paler in colour than its Northern European equivalent.101

With a ready supply of labour and materials sourced at cost, timber 
merchants often engaged in construction as an extension of their normal 
business operations. By 1865, for instance, William Carvill was keen to play 
his part in the house-building boom in Dublin and began to speculate in 
building around his home in Rathgar. Between 1865 and 1870, he laid out 2 
new streets and built 18 semi-detached houses: numbers 1-14 Rostrevor Terrace 
(after his home town of Rostrevor, County Down) and numbers 2-6 Orwell 
Park. Rostrevor Terrace is grand in scale, consisting of a series of wide, semi-
detached homes clad in red brick and set back behind generous front gardens 
(Figure 5). These houses were a means of amassing wealth and financial 
security: although some of the Carvill dwellings were sold, the majority were 
retained as lucrative rental properties, and/or absorbed into the marriage 
settlements of his children.102 Behind these relatively austere facades are 
richly decorated interiors, complete with cornicework, foliated ceiling roses, 
and delicately carved timber stairs. With the majority of Carvill’s shipments 
coming from British North America, it is likely that the timber supporting 
these ceilings and floors, before being nailed into place in Dublin’s Victorian 
suburbs, passed through the hands of lumberjacks and sawyers, shipwrights, 
and merchants 4,000 miles away across the Atlantic Ocean. Now some of the 
city’s most highly valued structures, these houses are therefore the products of 
exodus and enterprise – exodus to a New World to benefit an old one – all the 
while facilitating one family’s rise to nouveau riche status. 

George Carvill remains in British North America, 1849-1884
After William’s return to Ireland, George acted as agent for his brother and 
he sent his ship the Catherine to Liverpool in 1849 to be put up for sale. In 
return William sold a number of George’s vessels, such as the Francis Carvill, 
named after their deceased older brother, which he sold in Liverpool in 1863.103 

100	Dublin Builder, 1 May 1866.
101	 Author unknown, Carpentry Manual (London: 1894), 324.
102	 Susan Galavan, Dublin’s Bourgeois Homes: Building the Victorian Suburbs, 1850-1901 (Abington, 

UK: Routledge, 2017), 119. 
103	 Wyse, “New Brunswick Shipbuilders Checklist,” in Smith and Wright, Saint John Ships. The 

barque Francis Carvill did not have an easy run: although launched in Saint John in 1860, it was 
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George continued to invest in ships, the majority of which were sold within a 
few years of their launch in various ports in Britain or Ireland.104 Clearly, it was 
a risky business: of the 21 ships that George invested in, six were lost at sea. An 
example of this was the Dundalk, which was sent to Ireland for William to sell 
in 1860. After failing to find a buyer it was returned to Saint John, from where 
it subsequently left for a voyage to Cuba in 1863 and was never seen again.105 
Another recorded loss was the Maggie Chapman, which was launched from 
Saint John in 1868 but abandoned on a voyage from Philadelphia to Antwerp in 
Belgium 10 years later.106 The most dramatic case, however, was the loss of the 
Eblana, a vessel of 650 tons built in Saint John in 1868 for George Carvill. For 
12 years this ship carried deals across the Atlantic, returning mainly with coal 

brought back to port, the inspector reporting it to be “very tender and unfit to be sent to sea 
in her then condition.” The goods were offloaded and more ballast was added, and a cargo of 
Saint John deals was shipped to Dublin later that year; see Freeman’s Journal, 17 September 
and 31 October 1860.

104	Sager and Panting, Maritime Capital, 113. George Carvill also acted as an agent in some of these 
ports; an example is the Tadmor, a barque of 648 tons built in Saint John in 1848 that he sailed 
to Dublin that year for Alexander McFarlane of Thornhill, Scotland.

105	 Smith and Wright, Saint John Ships.
106	 The shipping registries of Saint John, New Brunswick 1820-1914, MC1127, ref. J868076, PANB; 

painting of the barque Maggie Chapman, 1868-1878, Saint John Museum (Saint John).

Figure 5 – Number 3 Rostrevor Terrace, Dublin.
Source: Photograph by author.
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as ballast. Known as an “ocean racer,” by 1880 it was reported to be one of the 
fastest vessels in the port of Saint John having raced several times across the 
Atlantic along with another of George’s ships. 107 Whereas most vessels made 
the voyage to Britain in 25 to 30 days, the Eblana took only 16. On its return 
to North America in January 1880, with a cargo of 400 tons of coal, it was 
shipwrecked 12 miles off the coast of Saint John, with the loss of ten lives.108 
Although shipwrecks were not uncommon, the extent of fatalities suffered here 
appears to have been significant. The news reached newspapers in Boston and 
Montreal, and the reports all lamented the loss of Captain Barry, his first mate, 
six sailors and a woman and her 3-year-old son.109

Like many merchants in the city, George Carvill began expanding into 
land speculation by acquiring property in the Saint John Harbour area.110 
The first record of this is in 1850, when he sold a 10-foot wide plot fronting 
on to Waterloo Street in the Wellington Ward area.111 By the following year he 
appeared in the census as a 30-year-old single man, living in a house on the 
same street along with three servants who were all of Irish descent.112 Within 
two years, however, he had married Margaret Lucinda Fogerty at St. Patrick’s 
Cathedral in New York, the daughter of an Irish lawyer from that city.113

George continued in partnership with his brother William in Ireland, 
shipping lumber mainly to the port of Dublin and importing iron into the 
province.114 They also continued in their capacity as co-owners of the saw 
mill in Lancaster; in 1852 the brothers were among those campaigning for the 
extension of the port of Saint John to facilitate the transport of lumber from 
there.115 From the store and warehouses at Number 4 Nelson Street, the firm 
sold a range of metals: from bar, sheet, and pig iron to tin plates, spikes, and 
anchors and chains as well as different forms of steel (cast, german, spring, 

107	 Due to a sharp fall in shipping returns in the 1880s, ship owners became obsessed with speedy 
turn-around times and quick passages; see Sager and Panting, Maritime Capital, 138-9.

108	Montreal Gazette (Montreal) and Daily News (Saint John), 9 March 1880.
109	 The ship was insured by Ranny & Marshall of Saint John for between $18,000 and $20,000; see 

Daily News, 9 March 1880.
110	 Acheson, “Great Merchant,” 13.
111	 George Carvill and Chas Robinson, 19 January 1850, County deed registry books 1780-1930, 

K4555, PANB. 
112	 “George Carvill,” Census of New Brunswick, 1851, Library and Archives Canada (LAC), https://

www.bac-lac.gc.ca/eng/census/1851/Pages/nb.aspx. 
113	 McEvoy interview.
114	 Hannay, St. John and Its Business, 77.
115	 “Journal of the House of Assembly,” Early Canadiana Online, Febuary to May 1853, p. 68, http://

eco.canadiana.ca/view/oocihm.9_00951.
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and blistered). The best makes of anvils, vices, and bellows were available for 
blacksmiths’ use, in addition to patent metal for the making of ship’s bolts.116 
William and George also operated as commission agents for a shipping line 
from Ulster. Between 1851 and 1856 they placed several advertisements in the 
New Brunswick Courier, appealing to locals who wished to engage passages for 
their friends on the “first Spring Vessels.”117 The firm was only one of several 
agents operating on these ships, as evidenced by the passenger list for the ship 
the Mary Ann. Sailing from Derry in Ireland to Saint John in June 1856, only 31 
of the 158 passengers had booked through W. & G. Carvill while the remainder 
had bought tickets through other agents.118 In 1862 W. & G. Carvill confirmed 
that they had been operating as commission agents on this line for over 30 
years, claiming they had been “singularly fortunate, as during that long period 
it has met with no disaster and not one of its passengers has ever been lost.”119

Like his brother William, George Carvill began to engage in building 
construction in his local community. When Reverend Thomas L. Connolly 
was consecrated as the second bishop of New Brunswick in 1852, he announced 
his intention to build a cathedral to cater for the city’s growing Catholic 
population. Connolly formed a building committee to oversee the project that 
consisted of 12 of the city’s “most respectable Catholic citizens,” including the 
iron merchant George Carvill. They held their first meeting in November 
of that year where they agreed on an overall budget of £10,000 and raised 
£2,500 that night, including a substantial £100 from each of its members.120 
Connolly began acquiring land for the cathedral the following year, on a large 
site on Waterloo Street, opposite George’s house on the outskirts of the city. 
Work began in the spring of 1853, aided by volunteer labour, where “fully 400 
men, labourers and various trades and callings were crowded around the site 
of the proposed edifice, enthusiastic volunteers in the work of digging the 
foundation.”121 As part of a rising Catholic mercantile class, George Carvill 
played a prominent role in the planning and funding of the project; but his 

116	 Receipt from George Carvill, 3 September 1872, Quinton Family Papers, S 107-1 & F19/2, NBM.
117	 New Brunswick Courier: 29 March and 17 April 1851; 1 January, 26 March, and 1 August 1853; 21 

October 1854; 5 April 1856.
118	 Their passengers consisted of 25 adults and 6 children, ranging from 6 to 45 years of age, 

and from all over Northern Ireland; see “Ships List,” http://www.theshipslist.com/ships/
passengerlists/maryann1856.shtml. 

119	 Morning Freeman (Saint John), 1 April 1862.
120	 Saint John Globe, 11 July 1914.
121	 Sister Catherine Hennessy, Anne Marie McGrath, Peter Murphy, Fred Horgan, Ronald Horgan, 

and Bonnie Harley, The Cathedral of the Immaculate Conception, 1885-1985 (Saint John, NB: 
Authors, 1985), 2.
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firm also supplied building materials in the form of various quantities of steel, 
iron, slate, and cement.122 The cathedral opened its doors in 1855, but was not 
fully complete until a steeple was added to the bell tower in 1871. Today this 
substantial stone building is still the tallest structure in Saint John, designed in 
the English Gothic style by the New York architect Charles Anderson.123

While building up a “large and prosperous iron business,” George had also 
begun to invest in stocks and shares: from 1853, he was as a stockholder of 
the Globe Assurance Company, the European and North American Railway 
Company, and the Saint John Fire Insurance Company.124 A testimony to his 
success, he built a large three-storey house for himself and his growing family 
in 1865 on a large plot on the corner of Waterloo and Cliff Street across from 
the Catholic cathedral (Figure 6). Complete with a grand arched entrance onto 
Waterloo Street, the house was designed in a Neoclassical style by leading New 
Brunswick architect Harry H. Mott.125 This three-storey over basement house 
was one of the largest houses in the district and was clad in brick with stone 
surrounds to the windows.126 Standing out against the mostly timber-clad 
houses in the area, it is possible that the brick and stone used to build this 
house arrived as ballast on one of George’s ships. By 1875 he was responsible 
for 5,000 tons or more of newly registered shipping, classifying him as a major 
ship owner in Saint John – a city that had reportedly been transformed “from 
a wilderness condition to that of a wealthy and populous city, and a great 
port known all over the world.”127 Two years later Saint John was engulfed by 
flames; the Carvill premises on Nelson Street were destroyed but were quickly 
rebuilt.128

The 1880s saw the passing of the older generation. In July 1884, George 
Carvill died in Saint John, followed by his brother William five months later 

122	 Financial Accounts, St. Malachy’s Roman Catholic Church, February 1853 to June 1855, MC2339/
MS3C, PANB. I am indebted to Mary-Ellen Badeau of the Provincial Archives of New Brunswick 
for uncovering this information. 

123	 NBM, “Saint John, An Industrial City in Transition,” http://website.nbm-mnb.ca/Transition/
english/details.asp?item=241.

124	 “Journal of the House of Assembly,” Early Canadiana Online: February-May 1853, p. xvi; 
February-May 1854, p. cxxxix; October-November 1854, p. 219; February-May 1856, p. 307; 
February-May 1859. dccliv.

125	 “Harry Claire Mott,” Biographical Dictionary of Architects in Canada, http://dictionaryofarchitects 
incanada.org/node/1878.

126	 By the 1871 census, he was still living there with his wife and eight children, attended to by five 
servants; see “George Carvill,” Census of New Brunswick, 1871, LAC, https://www.bac-lac.gc.ca/
eng/census/1851/Pages/nb.aspx.

127	 Sager and Panting, Maritime Capital, 262; Hannay, St. John and Its Business, 36.
128	 Daily Sun (Saint John), 25 July 1884.
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in Dublin. George Carvill was remembered as one of the most prominent 
businessmen in the city and “one of our wealthiest citizens,” having presided 
over one of the leading iron enterprises in the Maritimes.129 Both men left 
behind substantial fortunes, emblematic of their rise in status. The value of 
George’s real estate amounted to $57,500 (about $2.0 million CDN today), 
which included his city residence at Waterloo Street, a house at Paddock 
Street, and his warehouse on Nelson Street. He was also the owner of 24 vacant 
lots: two on Nelson Street, one on Water Street, three on Main Street and 18 
in Churchville in the parish of Simonds. His brother William Carvill died 
with assets worth over £44,687 (about £3.3 million today),130 also a substantial 
fortune for the time and a “considerable portion” of which consisted of shares 
in ships; but these assets had fallen in value by the time of his death. He 

129	 James S. Easby-Smith, Georgetown University in the district of Columbia 1789-1907 (New York 
and Chicago: Lewis Publishing Company, 1907); Saint John Freeman, 28 January 1928.

130	 National Archives, “Currency Converter: 1270-1970,” http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/
currency-converter/ and CPI Inflation Calculator, http://www.in2013dollars.com/us/inflation/ 
1885?amount=57500; original grant of probate of William Carvill (copy), Rathgar House, Dublin, 
February 1885, acc. no. T6875, National Archives of Ireland, Dublin.

Figure 6 – Carvill Hall, 71 Waterloo Street, Saint John, New Brunswick.
Source: Louis Merritt Harrison Collection, c. 1955, New Brunswick Museum.
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owned, in addition to his business premises, houses and lands in Dublin city 
and county and in his home county of Down. Both men are commemorated 
in impressive carved stone monuments, which dominate the skyline in their 
respective cemeteries in Saint John and Dublin.

Conclusion
The three Carvill brothers participated in international commercial 
networks that linked the timber, shipping, and passenger trades on both 
sides of the Atlantic. Born into a farming background at the turn of the 19th 
century, Francis Carvill was the driver of the family business. He introduced 
shipbuilding to the port of Newry, and his mills and factories made him the 
largest employer in the town. His younger brother William Carvill sailed for 
New Brunswick in 1836, leaving one British colony to forge opportunities in 
another. He took advantage of a window of opportunity during the first half of 
the 19th century, when protectionist tariffs made the export of colonial lumber 
a profitable business. He also imported a range of products, from foodstuffs to 
coal, fire bricks to tobacco, and a large proportion of the various types of metal 
goods that had been pumped out of the forges of a growing industrial Britain. 
When George Carvill arrived in the province in 1844, he built on the successes 
of his brother, and became one of the main importers of iron to the Maritimes.

The Carvills were part of a community of migrating Irish into North 
America; but rather than arriving poor and disadvantaged in the new world, 
they brought with them expertise and capital as they left behind their farms to 
further their careers in the new world.131 The trans-Atlantic trade enabled these 
immigrants to enter the ranks of the merchant class, where they contributed to 
industrialization by exporting wood and ships to Europe, importing iron, and 
investing in railway infrastructure and building. Their business operations, 
however, carried very high risks, with George Carvill’s losses in ships only 
one such example.132 Their expansion beyond the trans-Atlantic trade into 
the Indian colonies, as well as their diversification into the passenger trades, 

131	 As Houston and Smyth elucidate, British North America was not a place for those without 
capital: free land grants were “virtually non-existent” during the buoyant immigration period 
between 1825 and the 1850s. William Carvill arrived in Saint John in 1836 and bought the 
premises on Nelson Street for 500 pounds; see Houston and Smyth, Irish Emigration and 
Canadian Settlement, 97, 127.

132	 According to James Hannay, after the opening of a number of hardware businesses in the 
1830s in Saint John (including the Carvill store) “a fierce and ruinous competition sprang up in 
hardware, so ruinous that nearly all those who were engaged in it became bankrupts, more 
failures having occurred in this business, perhaps, than in any other”; see Hannay, St. John and 
Its Business, 76. No evidence of bankruptcy has been found for W. & G. Carvill in the records.
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property acquisition, and house construction, no doubt enabled them to offset 
losses in one sector by gains in another. Versatility was essential for survival in 
British North America, where colonial commerce operated within the context 
of a “marginal trading environment.”133

International trade produced a two-way exchange of people and goods, 
which transformed the social and built environments on both sides of the 
Atlantic. Irish immigrants landed on North American shores, and shaped 
the demographics of the future Canadian state. New Brunswick trees were 
exchanged for British iron and steel, key products that fuelled the industrial 
age. These materials found their way into the architecture on both sides of 
the Atlantic: British iron and steel supports the stone facade of Saint John’s 
Catholic Cathedral, and New Brunswick timber likely forms the skeletal frame 
behind William Carvill’s brick facades in Dublin. Never before had such 
large quantities of British North American timber been used throughout the 
United Kingdom, particularly during the first half of the 19th century, as new 
churches and houses, town halls, and railway stations were built to cater for 
a growing population. Today, the legacy of New Brunswick’s industrial past 
remains embedded behind many brick and stone facades throughout Britain 
and Ireland. From f loor joists to rafters, f looring to windows, and doors 
to staircases, this is all primary evidence for the province’s transoceanic, 
industrial, and colonial past.
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